
 

1 
 

Committee Administrator: MeetingContact 
Tel: 01884 234209 

Email: jstuckey@middevon.gov.uk 
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk 

Mid Devon District Council 
 

Standards 
 

Wednesday, 14 January 2015 at 6.00 pm 
Exe Room, Phoenix House 

 
 

Those attending are advised that this meeting will be recorded 
 

Membership 
 
Cllr R J Chesterton  
Cllr Mrs F J Colthorpe  
Cllr R M Deed  
Cllr R Evans  
Cllr Mrs L J Holloway  
Cllr C R Slade  
Cllr Mrs M E Squires  
Cllr P F Williams  
Cllr Mrs N Woollatt  
 

A G E N D A 
 
Members are reminded of the need to make declarations of interest prior to any 
discussion which may take place 
 
1   Apologies and Substitute Members   

To receive any apologies for absence and notices of appointment of 
Substitute Members (if any). 
 

2   Public Question Time   
To receive any questions relating to items on the Agenda from members 
of the public and replies thereto. 
 
Note: A maximum of 30 minutes is allowed for this item. 
 

3   Minutes  (Pages 5 - 8) 
To approve as a correct record the minutes of the last meeting 
(attached). 
 

4   Chairman's Announcements   
To receive any announcements the Chairman of the Committee may 
wish to make. 
 

5   Constitution Working Group  (Pages 9 - 70) 
The Committee to receive an update from the Monitoring Officer 
outlining the ongoing work of the Constitution Working Group. 

Public Document Pack



 

2 
 

Committee Administrator: MeetingContact 
Tel: 01884 234209 

Email: jstuckey@middevon.gov.uk 
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk 

 
To include: 
 
Officer Code of Conduct 
Articles 
 

6   Exclusion of the Press and Public   
Councillor D F Pugsley raised the following matter at the Scrutiny 
Meeting held on 8 December 2014. 
 
Exclusion of Press and Public.  
 
Following discussion is was RECOMMENDED to the Standards 
Committee that Procedure Rule 21 have the following text added as a 
second paragraph referring to 12.02.d. 
 
Whenever there is a possibility that an item may need to be discussed in 
part two the agenda should include a brief explanation as to why this 
might be the case, in plain English, and make reference to the 
Constitution, Article 12, which mentions a presumption in favour of 
openness and transparency. 
 

7   State of the District Debate   
The following motion had been referred to the Standards Committee for 
consideration and report: 
  
This Council resolves to amend the Constitution by adding the following 
sentence at the end of Procedure Rule 16.1: 
 
"If in any year the Leader fails to call a debate, it may be called by notice 
in writing to the Chief Executive signed by any 5 members of the 
Council." 
  
In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.6(a) Councillor D F Pugsley 
requested that the Motion be altered to read: 
  
"that the Constitution be amended by adding the following sentence at 
the end of Procedure Rule 16.1: 
  
If the Leader declines or fails to call a debate within nine months in any 
municipal year, it may be called by notice in writing to the Chief 
Executive signed by any 10 Members of the Council. 
 
The Standards Committee at its meeting on 12 November 2014 
considered this proposal and recommended that it be supported. 
  
Following discussion at Council , it was AGREED that the Motion be 
referred back to the Standards Committee as Members requested 
further clarification with regard to who requests the subject of the 
debate.  



 

3 
 

Committee Administrator: MeetingContact 
Tel: 01884 234209 

Email: jstuckey@middevon.gov.uk 
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk 

 
8   Standards Sub Committee   

To receive an update from the Standards Sub Committee following their 
meeting on 9th January 2015. 
 

9   Identification of items for the next meeting   
 

 
 

Kevin Finan 
Chief Executive 

Wednesday, 7 January 2015 
 
 
 
Anyone wishing to film part or all of the proceedings may do so unless the press 
and public are excluded for that part of the meeting or there is good reason not 
to do so, as directed by the Chairman. Any filming must be done as 
unobtrusively as possible from a single fixed position without the use of any 
additional lighting; focusing only on those actively participating in the meeting 
and having regard also to the wishes of any member of the public present who 
may not wish to be filmed. As a matter of courtesy, anyone wishing to film 
proceedings is asked to advise the Chairman or the Member Services Officer in 
attendance so that all those present may be made aware that is happening.  
 
Members of the public may also use other forms of social media to report on 
proceedings at this meeting. 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting and listen to 
discussion. Lift access to the Council Chamber on the first floor of the building is 
available from the main ground floor entrance. Toilet facilities, with wheelchair 
access, are also available. There is time set aside at the beginning of the 
meeting to allow the public to ask questions. 
 
An induction loop operates to enhance sound for anyone wearing a hearing aid 
or using a transmitter. If you require any further information, or 
 
If you would like a copy of the Agenda in another format (for example in large 
print) please contact MeetingContact on: 
Tel: 01884 234209 
Fax:  
E-Mail: jstuckey@middevon.gov.uk 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



12  Standards Committee 12 November  2014   

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

MINUTES of a MEETING of the STANDARDS COMMITTEE held on 
Wednesday 12 November 2014 at 6.00pm 

 

Present: 

Councillors: R M Deed (Chairman), R J Chesterton, Mrs F J 
Colthorpe, R Evans, Mrs L J Holloway, C Slade, Mrs M 
E Squires, P F Williams and Mrs N Woollatt   

 

Also Present:  

 Councillors:  D F Pugsley and Mrs J Roach 

 

Officers 

Present: A Tregellas (Head of Communities and Governance) 
and J Stuckey (Member Services Officer). 

 
 

28. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 
 
 There were no members of the public present. 
 

29. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 

Clarification was sought with regard to Minute 27 where Members resolved to 
draft a constitutional amendment for the Audit Committee.  It was agreed that 
the Audit Committee was the appropriate route for this to take. 
 
The Minutes of the previous meeting held on 28 August 2014 were approved 
as a true record and signed by the Chairman. 

 

30. CHAIRMAN’S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 

The Chairman had no announcements to make. 
 

31. MOTION 495 (COUNCILLOR D F PUGSLEY – 4 SEPTEMBER 2014) 
 

To Committee had been asked by Council to consider the following Motion 
referred by the Council to the Standards Committee. 

 
This Council resolves to amend the Constitution by adding the following 
sentence at the end of Procedure Rule 16.1:  

 
"If in any year the Leader fails to call a debate, it may be called by notice in 
writing to the Chief Executive signed by any 5 members of the Council."   

 
Councillor Pugsley clarified that it was his intention that this would come into 
force after May 2015 as a State of the District debate had already been called 
for the current municipal year. It was agreed that by year the Committee were 
referring to the municipal year. 
 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



13  Standards Committee 12 November  2014   

Discussion took place regarding; 
 

 Whether 5 Members were enough and whether a larger number would be 
more appropriate to ensure that there was enough support for the debate; 

 The wording ‘The State of the District’ and how debates in the past had not 
necessarily met this description; 

 How to define when the Chairman had ‘failed to call a debate’ 

 The debate should be about the state of the district rather than held as a 
question and answer session on a specific topic; 
 

It was therefore 
 

RECOMMENDED to Council that the 
Constitution be amended by adding the 
following sentence at the end of Procedure Rule 
16.1: 
 
If in any municipal year the Leader declines to 
call a debate, or fails to call a debate within nine 
months, it may be called by notice in writing to 
the Chief Executive signed by any 10 Members 
of the Council. 

 
(Proposed by Cllr Mrs N Woollatt and seconded 
by Cllr P F Williams) 

 
 

32. REQUEST FOR CONSTITUTIONAL CHANGE  -  
 
 Cllr Mrs J Roach had requested that the following constitutional change to Standing 

Order 13 be discussed by the Committee. 
 
 “If notice is given of any original motion that, in the opinion of the proper officer is out 

of order, illegal, irregular or improper, then the proper officer shall immediately submit 
such notice to the Chairman and it shall be not accepted and placed on the agenda 
without his sanction. In the event of non-acceptance, the proper officer shall inform 
the member giving notice as soon as reasonably possible”. 

 
 Councillor Roach explained to the Committee that previously she had submitted a 

motion for Council which had been added to the summons.  Less than 24 hours 
before the meeting she had been informed that the motion would not be allowed. 

 
 Discussion took place regarding; 
 

 If a motion had been put onto the summons and been issued it should be 
allowed to stand; 

 If a motion was to be refused the Chairman must inform the Member as soon 
as possible to allow time for the motion to be amended and resubmitted; 

 The reason for the refusal should be clearly stated; 

 Unsuitability would be in the opinion of the Proper officer, if Members 
disagreed with this decision they should go to the Monitoring Officer. 

 Training for new Members and Chairman from May 2015 would give clear 
guidance about Motions. 

 

Page 6



14  Standards Committee 12 November  2014   

It was therefore 
 

RECOMMENDED to Council that the following 
Constitutional change to Standing Order 13 be 
made: 
 
If notice is given of any original motion that, in 
the opinion of the proper officer is out of order, 
illegal, irregular or improper, then the proper 
officer shall immediately submit such notice to 
the Chairman of the Council and it shall be not 
accepted and placed on the agenda without his 
sanction. In the event of non-acceptance, the 
proper officer shall inform the member giving 
notice as soon as reasonably possible and 
stating the reason for rejection. 

 
(Proposed by Cllr R Evans and seconded by Cllr 
C R Slade) 

 

33. CONSTITUTION WORKING GROUP  
 

The Committee received a verbal update from the Monitoring Officer outlining 
the ongoing work of the Constitution Working Group. 
 
The Officer explained that progress was now being made and that sections of 
the Constitution would be reported to this Committee in early 2015. 
 
Councillors Williams and Holloway reported that although it had not been a 
simple task they were pleased with progress and hoped to produce a 
Constitution that was clearer and more usable that the current version. 

 

34. STANDARDS SUB COMMITTEE HEARINGS – JOINT WORKING WITH 

OTHER AUTHORITIES (00.53.18) 

 
The Committee received a verbal update from the Monitoring Officer 
regarding correspondence with other District Councils. 

 
 The Officer explained that she had written to other Devon authorities to ask if 

they would be prepared to work in partnership with Mid Devon regarding 
Conduct Hearings in respect of District Councillors. The Committee had 
previously agreed that it would be preferable for conduct hearings to be dealt 
with independently by a neighbouring authority. 

 
 The Monitoring Officer would update the Committee with any responses 

received.  

 

35. STANDARDS SUB COMMITTEE HEARINGS (00.56.38)  
 

The Committee had previously requested information regarding sanctions 
open to them following an Ethical Standards Hearing. 

 

The Monitoring Officer tabled information regarding this.  It was AGREED to 
defer this matter until a future meeting, to allow the Constitution Working 
Group to discuss the matter further before reporting back to this Committee. 

Page 7



15  Standards Committee 12 November  2014   

36. COMPLAINTS (01.07.00) 
 

The Monitoring Officer updated the Committee regarding complaints that she was 
investigating. 
 
During discussions regarding a particular Town/Parish Council it was necessary to 
pass the following resolution to protect the business affairs of the specific Council 
identified. 
  

RESOLVED that under Section 100A(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972 the public be 
excluded from the next item of business on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, namely 
information relating to the financial or business 
affairs of any particular person (including the 
authority hold that information). 
  
(Proposed by the Chairman) 

 

37. MATTERS ARISING RELATING TO A TOWN/PARISH COUNCIL  
 
The Monitoring Officer outlined issues regarding a particular Town/Parish Council 
that she had been working with and requested the Committee to consider the issues 
that she had raised. 
  

RESOLVED that: a sub-committee be set up to 
consider various matters regarding Town/Parish 
Councils and that the Sub Committee comprise 
of Councillors R M Deed, P F Williams and Mrs 
N Woollatt.  

  
(Proposed by the Chairman) 

 
Note: Following discussion of this item the committee returned to public session 
 

38. TRAINING (01.09.00) 

 
 The Monitoring Officer explained that in May 2015 training would be held in the three 

main towns for new Members.  The Officer also offered to provide training to a 
Member of the Committee that had recently re-joined. 

 

39. IDENTIFICATION OF ITEMS AND DATE FOR THE NEXT MEETING – 14 January 

2014 

 
 No items were identified. 
 
 
 

  

(The meeting terminated at 7.30pm)                         CHAIRMAN 

Page 8



OFFICERS CODE OF CONDUCT 

The public is entitled to expect the highest standards of conduct from all employees who 
work for the Council. This Code of Conduct outlines the existing rules and conditions of 
service which apply to you as a Council employee and is designed to provide clear guidance 
to assist you in your day-to-day work. 

The Code sets out the standards which are expected of you and provides a framework which 
will help to promote best practice.  Reference should also be made to Nolan’s Seven 
Principles of Public Life which are Selflessness, Integrity, Objectivity, Accountability, 
Openness, Honesty and Leadership. All employees of the Council are required to observe 
and uphold the standards of the Code and all policies and procedures of the Council. Failure 
to do so is a serious matter which could result in disciplinary action, including dismissal. 

You should therefore read the document carefully, and if you are uncertain about any aspect 
of its contents, please contact your immediate manager or supervisor. 

1. STANDARDS AND ATTITUDE 

1.1 All employees of the Council are expected to give the highest possible standard 
of service to the public, and where it is part of their duties, to provide appropriate 
advice to councillors and fellow employees with impartiality. 

1.2 Your attitude in dealing with people reflects on the Council so it is important that 
you are helpful, polite and courteous. 

1.3 All employees are expected to report, in the first instance, to their manager or 
supervisor any illegality, impropriety, breach of procedure or policy of the Council. 
The line manager must then report to their Head of Service and the Monitoring 
Officer. 

1.4 There are a number of mechanisms available to employees to do this including 
the Council’s complaints procedure and also the Whistle-Blowing Policy. 

1.5 In all cases, it is not enough to avoid actual impropriety, as public perceptions are 
very important. Employees should at all times avoid any appearance of improper 
conduct which may give rise to suspicion. 

2. CONFIDENTIALITY AND DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION 

2.1 The law requires that certain types of information must be available to councillors, 
auditors, government services, service users and the public. Different rules apply 
in different situations. Employees must be aware of which information within their 
authority is open and which is not, and act accordingly.  If you are in any doubt as 
to whether you can release any particular information, always check with your 
manager or Head of Service first. 

2.2 The confidentiality of information received in the course of your duties should be 
respected and must never be used for personal or political gain. Also, of course, 
you should not knowingly pass information on to others who might use it in such 
a way. 

2.3 You should not communicate confidential information or documents to others who 
do not have a legitimate right to know. Information must only be disclosed in 
accordance with the requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998, which covers 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



computerised and manual information held on individuals. All staff need to bear in 
mind that an E-mail is as legally binding as a letter and informal messages sent 
internally can be used in evidence in court proceedings. 

2.4 Information given in the course of your duties should be accurate and fair and 
never designed to mislead. 

2.5 Any particular information received by an employee from a councillor which is 
personal to that councillor should not be divulged by the employee without the 
prior approval of that councillor, except where such disclosure is required by law. 

3. POLITICAL NEUTRALITY 

3.1 Employees serve the authority as a whole. It follows that you must serve all 
councillors equally and ensure that the individual rights of all councillors are 
respected. 

3.2 From time to time, some employees may also be requested to advise a full 
meeting of a political group or its executive. You must do so in ways which do not 
compromise your political neutrality and inform the Chief Executive in advance. 

3.3 Whether you hold a politically restricted post or not, you must not allow your own 
personal or political opinions to interfere with your work. 

4. RELATIONSHIPS 

4.1 Councillors 

Mutual respect between employees and councillors is essential for good local 
government. Some employees need to work closely with councillors. Close 
personal familiarity between employees and individual councillors can damage 
the relationship and prove embarrassing to other employees and councillors, and 
should therefore be avoided. 

4.2 The Local Community and Service Users 

Employees should always remember their responsibilities to the whole of the 
community they serve and ensure courteous, effective and impartial service 
delivery to all groups and individuals within that community in accordance with 
the policies of the authority. 

4.3 Contractors and Suppliers 

4.3.1 All relationships of a business or personal nature with external 
contractors or suppliers, or potential contractors or suppliers, must be 
declared to your appropriate manager or supervisor on Form CCE 1 at 
the earliest opportunity. 

4.3.2 Orders and contracts must be awarded in accordance with the Council’s 
Contract Procedure Rules and no special favour should be shown to 
anyone, particularly businesses run by, for example, friends, partners or 
relatives. No part of the community should be discriminated against. 

Page 10



5. APPOINTMENT AND OTHER EMPLOYMENT MATTERS 

5.1 It is unlawful for appointments to be made on the basis of anything other than the 
ability of the candidate to undertake the duties of the post. If you are involved in 
making appointments you should do everything possible to ensure that these are 
made on the basis of merit and in accordance with the Council’s recruitment and 
selection policies. 

5.2 In order to avoid any possible accusation of bias, you must not become involved 
in any appointment if you are related to an applicant, or have a close personal 
relationship with him or her. 

5.3 Similarly, you should not be involved in decisions relating to discipline, promotion 
or pay adjustments in respect of any other employee who is a relative or with 
whom you have a close personal relationship; nor should you attempt to influence 
such decisions. 

5.4 Senior officers (i.e. Head of Service and above) must disclose to the Legal 
Services Manager on Form CCE 2 any relationship known to exist between them 
and any person they know who is a candidate for an appointment with the 
Council. 

5.5 If you apply for promotion or are seeking another job in the Council, you must not 
approach any councillor for a reference. Issues relating to your conditions of 
service, working arrangements or grading should be raised with your manager or 
Head of Service and not with councillors. 

6. OUTSIDE COMMITMENTS 

6.1 Your off-duty hours are your own concern, but you should make sure that you do 
not allow yourself to get into a position where your private interests come into 
conflict with your contractual obligations or are detrimental to the interests or 
reputation of the Council. 

6.2 Employees subject to Green Book conditions and paid from Spinal Point 29 are 
required to devote their whole-time service to the work of the Council and obtain 
written consent before taking any outside employment. If you fall into this 
category, and want to seek the Council’s agreement, you should complete Form 
CCE 3 and submit it to your Chief Officer. The Council will not unreasonably stop 
officers from undertaking additional employment, but this employment must not, 
in the Council’s view, conflict with or be detrimental to its interests, or weaken 
public confidence in the conduct of its business. 

6.3 Even if you are not subject to the Green Book provisions you should ensure that 
none of your outside activities are detrimental to the Council’s interests. 

6.4 If you write a book or article for payment on subjects relating to your work for the 
Council, you must seek the permission of the Council through your manager or 
Head of Service using Form CCE 3. The general presumption would be that any 
fee or royalty payable would be passed over to the Council. 

6.5 You must not undertake private or personal work of any description in working 
hours or in the office unless you have been given specific permission by your 
manager or Head of Service. 

Page 11



6.6 Private use of Council facilities and equipment, such as stationery and fax 
machines, is not allowed. Personal use of the telephone is permitted within 
reason, provided that calls are properly logged and charges paid back to the 
Council. Also, you should not arrange to receive correspondence, telephone calls 
and fax messages in the office related to outside work or private interests. 

7. PERSONAL INTERESTS 

7.1 You must declare to your manager or Head of Service on Form CCE 4 any 
financial or non-financial interests which could bring about conflict with the 
Council’s interests. 

7.2 If you are in any doubt about a potential conflict of interest, you should bring the 
matter to the attention of your manager or Head of Service so that a decision can 
be made as to how best to proceed. 

7.3 You must not make, or become involved with any official or professional 
decisions about matters in which you have a personal interest. 

7.4 Section 117 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires you to make a formal 
declaration about contracts or personal contracts with the Council in which you 
have a pecuniary interest. Such declarations should be made on Form CCE 5 
and sent to the Monitoring Officer. It is a criminal offence to fail to comply with 
this provision which is set out in full at Annex A. 

7.5 You must declare to the Monitoring Officer membership of any organisation not 
open to the public, requiring any commitment of allegiance, or which has secrecy 
about rules or membership or conduct, for example, the freemasons. A definition 
of such an organisation appears at Annex B. Such declarations should be made 
on Form CCE 6 and sent to the Monitoring Officer. 

8. EQUALITY 

8.1 All members of the local community, customers and other Council employees 
have a right to be treated fairly and equally. You should become familiar with and 
observe all Council policies relating to equality issues, eg the Council’s Equal 
Opportunities Policy, in addition to the requirements of the law. 

8.2 Employees should be aware of the provisions of, and their responsibilities under 
the Equality Act 2010 and that they have a duty to promote this. 

9. TENDERING PROCEDURES 

9.1 Employees involved in the tendering process or who have any other official 
relationship with contractors, must exercise fairness and impartiality when dealing 
with all customers, suppliers, other contractors and sub-contractors. 

9.2 If you are responsible for engaging or supervising contractors and have 
previously had, or currently have, a relationship in a private or domestic capacity 
with contractors, you must declare that relationship to your manager or Head of 
Service using Form CCE 4. 

9.3 If you become privy to confidential information on tenders or costs relating either 
to internal or external contractors, you must not disclose that information to any 
unauthorised person. 

Page 12



9.4 All employees must ensure that no special favour is shown to current, or recent 
former, employees or their partners, close relatives or associates in awarding 
contracts to businesses run by them or employing them in any capacity. 

10. CORRUPTION 

10.1 Employees must be aware that it is a serious criminal offence under the Bribery 
Act 2010 for them to receive or give any gift, loan or reward or advantage in their 
official capacity “for doing, or not doing, anything”, or “showing favour, or 
disfavour to any person”. If an allegation is made against you, it will be for you to 
demonstrate that any such rewards have not been corruptly obtained. The 
relevant statutory rules appear at Annex C. 

10.2 For your own protection, if anyone makes an approach to you which seems to 
you, or might seem to a third party, to be aimed at obtaining some form of 
preferential treatment, or in any suspicious circumstances in connection with a 
contract, you must report the matter to your Chief Officer. 

11. POSSIBLE INDUCEMENTS 

11.1 Introduction 

A potential source of conflict between public and private interests is the offer of 
gifts, hospitality or benefits in kind to employees in connection with their official 
duties. It is important to avoid any suggestion of improper influence. There is a 
checklist to help you at the end of this section. 

11.2 Gifts Generally 

11.2.1 Casual gifts offered to employees by contractors, organisations, firms or 
individuals may not be intended as an inducement or connected in any 
way with the performance of your official duties so as to involve the 
Bribery Act 2010. Nevertheless, with the exceptions listed below, you 
should decline any personal gift offered to you or your partner, or to a 
member of your family, by any person or organisation having dealings 
with the Council. 

11.2.2 Any such offer should be reported to your manager or Head of Service 
(or to the Monitoring Officer) on Form CCE 7. 

11.2.3 When a gift needs to be refused, this should be done with tact and 
courtesy, because the offer of gifts is common custom and practice in 
the commercial world, particularly at Christmas time. If the gift is simply 
delivered to your place of work, there may be a problem returning it, in 
which case it should be reported immediately to your manager or Head 
of Service or the Monitoring Officer as appropriate. 

11.3 Exceptions 

11.3.1 Gifts of a token value given at Christmas, such as calendars, diaries, 
blotters, pens or other simple items of office equipment for use in 
Council offices, but only if it bears the company’s name or insignia. 

Page 13



11.3.2 Gifts of a promotional nature on the conclusion of a courtesy visit to a 
factory or company offices, of a sort normally given by the company to 
visitors. 

11.4 Hospitality 

11.4.1 Offers of hospitality are a normal part of the courtesies of business life 
but in the public service it is important for employees to avoid creating 
an appearance of improper influence, thus undermining public 
confidence. 

11.4.2 Hospitality is sometimes offered to representatives of the Council in an 
official or formal capacity. Normally the only officers who would attend 
would be Chief Officers and appropriate Heads of Service. 

11.4.3 If hospitality is offered to you as an individual employee, special caution 
is needed, particularly when the host is seeking to do business with the 
Council or to obtain a decision from it. You must exercise the utmost 
care in dealing with contractors, developers, etc, who may stand to 
benefit from the goodwill of the Council. 

11.4.4 You should also be careful about attending exhibitions, seminars or 
visiting manufacturers, etc. There is an increasing trend towards linking 
such visits to, for example, a major sporting event, show or concert with 
a view to legitimising offers of hospitality. 

11.4.5 In general terms, it is more likely to be acceptable for you to join in 
hospitality offered to a group, than to accept something unique to 
yourself. When a particular person or body has a matter currently in 
issue with the Council, for example, an arbitration arising from a 
contract, then clearly common sense dictates that offers of hospitality 
should be refused even if in normal times they would be acceptable. 

11.4.6 All offers of hospitality should be reported to your Head of Service, or to 
the Monitoring Officer on Form CCE 8. 

11.5 Checklist 

The question in all these cases is one of judgement, and the following checklist of 
queries should help you to decide whether a gift or an offer of hospitality should 
be accepted or tactfully declined. 

11.5.1 Is the donor, or event, significant in the community or area? If so, is the 
refusal likely to cause offence? 

11.5.2 Are you expected to attend because of your position in the community or 
area? 

11.5.3 Will the event be attended by others of a similar standing in the 
community or in other communities? 

11.5.4 What do you think is the motivation behind the invitation? 

Page 14



11.5.5 Would acceptance of the invitation be, in any way, inappropriate or place 
you under pressure in relation to any current or future issue involving the 
Council? 

11.5.6 Could you justify the decision to the Council, press and public? 

11.5.7 Is the extent of the hospitality, or the nature of the gift reasonable and 
appropriate? 

11.5.8 Are you likely to be expected to respond to the hospitality, and if so, 
how? 

11.5.9 Are you comfortable about the decision? 

12. SPONSORSHIP - GIVING AND RECEIVING 

12.1 Where an outside organisation wishes to sponsor or is seeking to sponsor a local 
government activity, whether by invitation, tender, negotiation or voluntarily, the 
basic conventions concerning acceptance of gifts or hospitality apply. Particular 
care must be taken when dealing with contractors or potential contractors. 

12.2 Where the Council wishes to sponsor an event or service, neither an employee 
nor any partner, spouse or relative must benefit from such sponsorship in a direct 
way without there being full disclosure to their Head of Service of any such 
interest. Similarly, where the Council through sponsorship grant aid, financial or 
other means, gives support in the community, employees should ensure that 
impartial advice is given and that there is no conflict of interest involved. 

13. FINANCIAL PROCEDURE RULES 

13.1 All employees involved in financial activities and transactions on behalf of the 
Council, including budgetary control, payments of accounts, payments of salaries 
and wages, petty cash and orders for works, goods or services must follow the 
Council’s Financial Procedure Rules. 

13.2 They must ensure that they use public funds entrusted to them in a responsible 
and lawful manner. They should strive to ensure value for money to the local 
community and to avoid legal challenge to the authority. 

ANY BREACHES OF THESE INSTRUCTIONS MAY LEAD TODISCIPLINARY ACTION 
AND COULD LEAD TO DISMISSAL 

CCE Forms – Please note that supplies of CCE forms are available from your Head of 
Service. They are also set out in Annex D 

CCE 1 Business or Personal Relationships with External Contractor or Supplier 

CCE 2 Relationship with a Candidate for Appointment with the Council 

CCE 3 Application for Approval of Outside Interests or Employment 

CCE 4 Personal Interests 

CCE 5 Pecuniary Interests 

Page 15



CCE 6 Membership of Secret Societies/Organisations 

CCE 7 Declaration of Offer of Gifts 

CPE 8  Declaration of Offer of Hospitality 

Page 16



ANNEX A  

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972, SECTION 117 

1. If it comes to the knowledge of an officer employed, whether under this Act or any other 
enactment, by a local authority that a contract in which he has an pecuniary interest, 
whether direct or indirect (not being a contract to which he is himself a party), has been, 
or is proposed to be, entered into by the authority or any committee thereof, he shall as 
soon as practicable give notice in writing to the authority of the fact that he is interested 
therein. 

For the purposes of this section, an officer shall be treated as having indirectly a 
pecuniary interest in a contract or proposed contract if he would have been so treated 
by virtue of section 95 above had he been a member of the authority. 

2. An officer of a local authority shall not, under colour of his office or employment, accept 
any fee or reward whatsoever other than his proper remuneration. 

3. Any person who contravenes the provisions of subsection (1) or (2) above shall be liable 
on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 4 on the standard scale. 

4. References in this section to a local authority shall include references to a joint 
committee appointed under Part VI of this Act or any other enactment. 

Page 17



ANNEX B 

ORGANISATIONS NOT OPEN TO THE PUBLIC 

(See paragraph [7.5] of the Code) 

Any lodge, chapter, society, trust or regular gathering or meeting (other than a professional 
association), which:- 

1. is not open to members of the public who are not members of that lodge, chapter, 
society or trust; or 

2. includes in the grant of membership an obligation on the part of the member a 
requirement to make a commitment (whether by oath or otherwise) of allegiance to the 
lodge, chapter, society or gathering or meeting; or 

3. includes, whether initially or subsequently, a commitment (whether by oath or otherwise) 
of secrecy about the rules, membership or conduct of the lodge, chapter, society, trust, 
gathering or meeting. 

Page 18



ANNEX C 

BRIBERY ACT 2010 

The Bribery Act 2010 creates offences making it unlawful to give or receive financial or other 
advantages in return for the improper performance of a relevant function or activity. The Act 
applies to functions and activities of a public nature which an individual is expected to 
perform in good faith, impartially or in a position of trust. 

  

Page 19



ANNEX D 

CCE FORMS 

  

Page 20



  

                                                                       CCE.1 

Relationship with external contractor or supplier        

  

Employee's Full Name............................................................................. 

  

Job Title ..............................................................Grade............................ 

  

Directorate and Section......................................................................... 

  

As required in paragraph 4.3 of the Council's Code of Conduct for 
Employees*, I give below details of my relationship with an external 
contractor or supplier 

  

Name and Address of Contractor/Supplier ............................................ 

……………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………  

Nature of Relationship ............................................................................. 

……………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………… 

 

Signature ...................................................... Date ................................... 

  

Please send the completed form to your Head of Service 

(who must copy it to the Monitoring Officer) 

  

Page 21



  

Received by Head of Service ...................................................................  

Date.......................................................................................................... 

  

Received by the Monitoring Officer ………………………………………… 

Date …………………………………………………………………………… 

  

  

* Paragraph 4.3 of the Code (Contractors and Suppliers) says that 

  

“All relationships of a business or personal nature with external contractors or suppliers, or potential 
contractors or suppliers, must be declared to your appropriate manager or supervisor on Form CCE 1 
at the earliest opportunity. Orders and contracts must be awarded in accordance with the Council’s 
Contract Procedure Rules and no special favour should be shown to anyone, particularly businesses 
run by, for example, friends, partners or relatives. No part of the community should be discriminated 
against.” 

Page 22



  

                                                                         CCE.2 

Relationship with candidate for appointment with Council 

  

Employee's Full Name........................................................................... 

  

Job Title ..............................................................Grade ............................ 

  

Directorate and Section ............................................................................ 

 

As required in paragraph 5.4 of the Council's Code of Conduct for 
Employees*, I give below details of my relationship with a candidate for 
appointment to a post with the Council 

 

Name and Address of Candidate ............................................................. 

…………………………………………………………………………………… 

…………………………………………………………………………………… 

  

Post Applied for ........................................................................................ 

  

Nature of Relationship .............................................................................. 

 

Signature .................................................................................................    

Date ......................................................................................................... 

  

 

Page 23



 

Please send the completed form to the Monitoring Officer 

  

Received by the Monitoring Officer…………….....................…………….. 

Date........................................................................................................... 

 

  

* Paragraph 5.4 of the Code (Appointment and other employment matters) says that  

“Senior officers (i.e. Head of Service and above) must disclose to the [Monitoring Officer – or Deputy 
Monitoring Officer in the case of the Head of Communities and Governance and Monitoring Officer] 
on Form CCE 2 any relationship known to exist between them and any person they know who is a 
candidate for an appointment with the Council.” 

  

Page 24



  

                                                                          CCE.3 

 

Approval for outside interests or employment 

  

Employee's Full Name .............................................................................. 

  

Job Title .............................................................Grade ............................. 

  

Directorate and Section ............................................................................. 

  

Description of Outside Interest/Employment/Directorships: 

.................................................................................................................. 

………………………………………………………………………………….. 

  

Does it involve any Remuneration, Fee or Reward? (If so, give details) 

.................................................................................................................... 

…………………………………………………………………………………… 

  

What is the commitment attached to these interests / employment? 

.................................................................................................................... 

…………………………………………………………………………………… 

  

Geographical Location of Activities: .......................................................... 

 Details of Personal Involvement: ............................................................. 

Page 25



.................................................................................................................... 

…………………………………………………………………………………… 

Do the activities involve any contact with this or any other Local 
Authority? (If so, give details): 

.................................................................................................................... 

…………………………………………………………………………………… 

In accordance with paragraph 6.2 of the Code of Conduct Employees*, I wish to 
seek approval for my involvement in the activity outlined above and have discussed 
the above detail with my line manager. 

  

Signed ..................................................................Date ............................. 

  

Please send the completed form to your Head of Service 

  

Received by Head of Service.................................................................... 

Date …..................................................................................................... 

 

Received by the Monitoring Officer ………………………………………… 

Date …………………………………………………………………………… 

  

*Paragraph. 6.2 (Outside commitments) says that:  

Employees subject to Green Book conditions and paid from Spinal Point 29 are required to 
devote their whole-time service to the work of the Council and obtain written consent before 
taking any outside employment. If you fall into this category, and want to seek the Council’s 
agreement, you should complete Form CCE 3 and submit it to your Head of Service. The 
Council will not unreasonably stop officers from undertaking additional employment, but this 
employment must not, in the Council’s view, conflict with or be detrimental to its interests, or 
weaken public confidence in the conduct of its business. 

Page 26



  

                                                                            CCE.4 

  

Declaration of Personal Interests 

  

Employee's Full Name ............................................................................... 

  

Job Title ..............................................................Grade........................... 

  

Directorate and Section ............................................................................ 

  

As required in paragraph 7.1 of the Council's Code of Conduct for 
Employees*, 

I give below details of my personal interests which may conflict with the 
Council's interests: 

Details of Personal Interests: .................................................................... 

.................................................................................................................... 

…………………………………………………………………………………… 

…………………………………………………………………………………… 

The interests are financial/non-financial (Delete as appropriate) 

  

Signed …………………………………………………………………………. 

Date ........................................................................................................ 

  

 

Please send the completed form to your Head of Service 

Page 27



 

Received by Head of Service ...................................................................  

Date.......................................................................................................... 

  

Received by the Monitoring Officer ………………………………………… 

Date …………………………………………………………………………… 

  

 

   

*Paragraph 7.1 (Personal interests) says that:  

You must declare to your manager or Head of Service on Form CCE 4 any financial or non-financial 
interests which could bring about conflict with the Council’s interests. 

Page 28



  

                                                                           CCE.5 

  

Financial Interest in Council Contract 

 

Employee's Full Name ............................................................................. 

  

Job Title ..............................................................Grade............................ 

  

Directorate and Section ............................................................................. 

  

As required in section 117 of the Local Government Act 1972 and paragraph 7.4 of 
the Council's Code of Conduct for Employees*, 

I give below details of my interest in a contract involving the Council: 

   

Details of Financial Interest:.................................................................... 

.................................................................................................................... 

……………………………………………………………………………………
  

Details of Contract Involved: ..................................................................... 

.................................................................................................................... 

…………………………………………………………………………………… 

  

Signed ...................................................................................................... 

Date .......................................................................................................... 

  

Page 29



Please send the completed form to the Monitoring Officer 

  

Received by the Monitoring Officer ………………………………………… 

Date …………………………………………………………………………… 

  

 

  

  

*Paragraph 7.4 (Personal interests) says that: 

Section 117 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires you to make a formal declaration about 
contracts or personal contracts with the Council in which you have a pecuniary interest. Such 
declarations should be made on Form CCE 5 and sent to the Monitoring Officer. 

Page 30



  

                                                                             CCE.6 

  

Membership of Secret Societies of Organisations 

  

Employee's Full Name............................................................................... 

  

Job Title .......................................................................Grade ................... 

  

Directorate and Section ............................................................................. 

  

As required in paragraph 7.5 of the Council's Code of Conduct for 
Employees*, 

I declare that I am a member of the following society / organisation/s 

  

Name of Society / Organisation/s …………............................................... 

…………………………………………………………………………………… 

…………………………………………………………………………………… 

  

Date of Becoming a Member: ……………………………………................. 

  

  

Signature .................................................................................................    

Date ........................................................................................................ 

  

Page 31



Please send the completed form to the Monitoring Officer 

  

Received by the Monitoring Officer ………………………………………… 

Date …………………………………………………………………………… 

  

  

*Paragraph 7.5 (Personal interests) says that: 

“You must declare to the Monitoring Officer membership of any organisation not open to the public, 
requiring any commitment of allegiance, or which has secrecy about rules or membership or conduct, 
for example, the freemasons. A definition of such an organisation appears at Annex B. Such 
declarations should be made on Form CCE 6 and sent to the Monitoring Officer.” 

Page 32



  

                                                                           CCE.7 

  

Offers of Gifts 

  

Employee's Full Name............................................................................. 

  

Job Title .......................................................................Grade ................. 

  

Directorate and Section ......................................................................... 

  

As required in paragraph 11.2 of the Council's Code of Conduct for 
Employees*, 

I give details of an offer of a gift / other benefit 

  

Details of Gifts Offered …………............................................................... 

…………………………………………………………………………………… 

…………………………………………………………………………………… 

  

Date Offer Made: ......................................................................................  

I have accepted the offer (YES or NO?) .................................................. 

  

Name and Address of Person Making Offer: ……………………………… 

………………………………………………………………………………….. 

…………………………………………………………………………………. 

Page 33



  

Signature .................................................................................................    

Date ......................................................................................................... 

          

Please send the completed form to your Head of Service and then 
the Monitoring Officer 

 

Received by Head of Service ...................................................................  

Date.......................................................................................................... 

  

Received by the Monitoring Officer ………………………………………… 

Date ……………………………………………………………………………  

 

 

 

  

*Paragraph 11.2 (Gifts generally) says that:  

“Casual gifts offered to employees by contractors, organisations, firms or individuals may not be 
intended as an inducement or connected in any way with the performance of your official duties so as 
to involve the Bribery Act 2010. Nevertheless, with the exceptions listed below, you should decline 
any personal gift offered to you or your partner, or to a member of your family, by any person or 
organisation having dealings with the Council. Any such offer should be reported to your manager or 
Head of Service (and the Monitoring Officer) on Form CCE 7.” 

Page 34



 

                                                                              CCE.8 

  

  

Offers of Hospitality 

  

Employee's Full Name .............................................................................. 

  

Job Title .................................................................Grade ........................ 

  

Directorate and Section ............................................................................ 

  

As required in paragraphs 11.5 of the Council's Code of Conduct for 
Employees* 

I give details of an offer of a gift, other benefit or hospitality: 

Details of Hospitality Offered .................................................................... 

.................................................................................................................... 

…………………………………………………………………………………… 

  

Date Offer Made: ....................................................................................... 

  

Name and Address of Person Making Offer:……….................................. 

………………………………………………………………………………….. 

………………………………………………………………………………….. 

  

Page 35



 

I have accepted the offer (YES or NO?) ……………………………………. 

 

Reasons for proposing to accept the offer: ………………………………… 

................................................................................................................... 

…………………………………………………………………………………… 

  

Signature .................................................................................................    

Date ........................................................................................................ 

  

Please send the completed form to your Head of Service and then 
the Monitoring Officer 

 

Received by Head of Service ...................................................................  

Date.......................................................................................................... 

  

Received by the Monitoring Officer ………………………………………… 

Date ……………………………………………………………………………  

  

· Approval required prior to acceptance for all employees except the Chief Executive or 
deputy Chief/Chief Officer 

 Paragraph 11.5 (Hospitality) says that: 

“All offers of hospitality should be reported to your Head of Service and then the Monitoring Officer on 
Form CCE 8.” 

  

 
 

Page 36



MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 

1. Article 1– The Constitution 

1.1 Powers of the Council 

The Council will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with the law and this 
Constitution. 

1.2 The Constitution 

This Constitution, and all its appendices, is the Constitution of Mid Devon District Council. 

1.3 Purpose of the Constitution 

The purpose of the Constitution is to: 

(a) enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community in 
partnership with citizens, businesses and other organisations; 

(b) support the active involvement of citizens in the process of local authority 
decision-making; 

 (c) help Councillors represent their constituents more effectively; 

 (d) enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively; 

(e) create a powerful and effective means of holding decision-makers to public 
account; 

(f) ensure that no one will review or scrutinise a decision in which they were 
directly involved; 

(g) ensure that those responsible for decision making are clearly identifiable to 
local people and that they explain the reasons for decisions; and 

(h) provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the community. 

 

1.4 Interpretation and Review of the Constitution 

Where the Constitution permits the Council to choose between different courses of 
action, the Council will always choose that option which it thinks is closest to the 
purposes stated above. 

The Council will monitor and evaluate the operation of the Constitution as set out in 
Article 14. 

  

Page 37



2. Article 2 – Members of The Council 

2.1 Composition and Eligibility 

(a) Composition 

The Council will comprise 42 Members, otherwise called Councillors.  One or 
more Councillors will be elected by the voters of each ward in accordance with a 
scheme drawn up by the Local Government Commission and approved by the 
Secretary of State. 

(b) Eligibility 

Only registered voters of the District or those living or working there will be 
eligible to hold the office of Councillor. 

2.2 Election and Terms of Councillors 

The regular election of Councillors will be held on the first Thursday in May every four 
years beginning in 2011. The Terms of Office of Councillors will start on the fourth day 
after being elected and will finish on the fourth day after the date of the next regular 
election. 

2.3 Roles and functions of all Councillors 

Key roles 

All Councillors will: 

(a) Irrespective of the ward to which they are elected, have as their over-
riding duty the representation of interest of the whole community of Mid 
Devoncollectively be the ultimate policy-makers and carry out a number of 
strategic and corporate management functions; 

(b) Collectively be the ultimate policy-makers and carry out a number of 
strategic and corporate management functions and will contribute to the 
good governance of the area and actively encourage community 
participation and citizen involvement in decision making; 

(c) Represent their communities and bring their views into the Council’s 
decision-making process, i.e. become the advocate of and for their 
communities and effectively represent the interest of their ward and of 
individual constituents; 

(d) Deal with individual casework and may act as an advocate for 
constituents in resolving particular concerns or grievances and respond to 
constituent’s enquiries and representations, fairly and impartially; 

(e) Balance different interests identified within the ward and represent the 
ward as a whole  

(f) Be involved in decision-making 

(g) Be available, where possible, to represent the Council on other 
bodies; and 

Page 38



(h) Maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics. 

2.4 Rights and Duties 

(a) Councillors will have such rights of access to such documents, 
information, land and buildings of the Council as are necessary for the proper 
discharge of their functions and in accordance with the law. 

(b) Councillors should consider the situation carefully and, if appropriate, 
seek guidance from the Monitoring Officer before making public information 
which is confidential or exempt without the consent of the Council or divulge 
information given in confidence to anyone other than a Councillor or officer 
entitled to know it. 

(c) For these purposes, “confidential” and “exempt” information are 
defined in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. 

2.5 Conduct 

Councillors must at all times observe the Members’ Code of Conduct and the Protocol on 
Member/Officer Relations set out in Part 5 of this Constitution. 

Councillors must promote and maintain high standards of behaviour as per the seven 
Nolan principles: 

Selflessness:  Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public 
interest.  They should not do so in order to gain financial or 
other material benefits for themselves, their family or their 
friends. 

Integrity: Holders of public office should not place themselves under any 
financial or other obligation to outside individuals or 
organisations that might seek to influence them in performance 
of their official duties. 

Objectivity: In carrying out public business, including making public 
appointments, awarding contracts, or recommending 
individuals for rewards and benefits, holders of public office 
should make choices on merit. 

Accountability: Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions and 
actions to the public and must submit themselves to whatever 
scrutiny is appropriate to their office. 

Openness: Holders of public office should be as open as possible about all 
the decisions and actions they take.  They should give reasons 
for their decisions and restrict information only when the wider 
public interest clearly demands. 

Honesty: Holders of public office have a duty to declare any private 
interests relating to their public duties and to take steps to 
resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protect the public 
interest. 

Page 39



Leadership: Holders of public office should promote and support these 
principles by leadership and example. 

 

2.6 Allowances 

Councillors will be entitled to receive allowances in accordance with the Members’ 
Allowances Scheme set out in Part 6 of this Constitution. 

Page 40



 

3. Article 3 – Citizens and The Council 

Citizens have a number of rights and responsibilities.  The following list is a general summary of 
rights in terms of information, the opportunity to participate and the ability to make complaints. 

1.1 Citizens’ Rights 

Citizens have the following rights. Their right to information and to participate are 
explained in more detail in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this 
Constitution: 

(a) Voting and petitions 

 (i) Member of the public have the right to vote and sign a petition; 

(ii) Citizens on the electoral roll may submit a petition requesting a 
referendum on the Council’s form of Governance i.e. Cabinet or 
Committee system 

 (b) Information 

Citizens have the right to: 

(i) Attend meetings of the Council, the Cabinet and its other Committees 
except where confidential or exempt information is likely to be disclosed, 
and the meeting is therefore held in private; 

(ii) See agendas, reports and background papers, and any records of 
decisions made by the Council, the Cabinet and other Committees, except 
where confidential or exempt information is likely to be disclosed; and 

(iii) inspect the Council’s accounts and make their views known to the 
external auditor. 

(iv) Expect courtesy and respect from officers and Councillors. 

(c) Participation  

Citizens have the right to participate in the Council’s question time and 
contribute to investigations by the Scrutiny Committee in accordance with the 
procedures for these committees and, in particular: 

(i) Citizens should be helped to gain access to buildings and information 
 

(ii) Citizens have the right to record the meeting in accordance with the 
Local Authorities openness and transparency regulations 2014. 
 

(iii) Human Rights issues will be respected in accordance with Schedule 1 
Part 1 of the Human Rights Act 1998 
 

(iv) Community Call for Action Section 21 of the Local Government Act 
2000 
 

Page 41



 

(d) Complaint 

Citizens have the right to complain to: 

(i) The Council itself under its Complaints Scheme;  

(ii) The Ombudsman after using the Council’s own complaints scheme;  

(iii) The Monitoring Officer about a breach of the Councillor’s Code of 
Conduct. 

(iv) Housing Ombudsman Service (Complaints from Council Housing 
tenants) 

 

3.2  Citizens’ Responsibilities 

Citizens must not be violent, abusing or threatening to Councillors or officers and must not 
wilfully harm things owned by the Council, Councillors or officers. 

Page 42



 

4. Article 4 – The Full Council 

4.1 Introduction 

The full Council is a formal meeting of all 42 Councillors.  The full Council is required by 
law to take certain important decisions including setting the Council’s Budget and 
Council Tax and approving a number of key plans and strategies, which together form 
the Policy Framework (listed below).  The full Council must also by law take decisions on 
a number of specific matters. 

The full Council provides a central forum for debate for all Councillors and they are able 
to ask questions.  Members of the public are able, to ask questions about the Council or 

matters affecting the Council at all full Council meetings with the exception of the Annual 
Meeting. 

4.2 The Council 

(a) Role 

A meeting of the Council is one which all 42 members are entitled to attend and 
to speak and vote. The Council is responsible for the Budget and Policy 
Framework of the Council and for all of the functions not the responsibility of the 
Cabinet. It will carry out some functions itself but others will be delegated to 
Committees or named officers. 

(b) Plans and Budgets 

The Council is responsible for the determination of its Budget and Policy 
Framework. The Council is responsible for regulatory and other non-Cabinet 
functions and has a role in holding the Cabinet to account. 

4.3 Policy Framework 

The Policy Framework means the plans and strategies which are approved by the 
Council annually and any other such plans and strategies adopted by Council as part 
of the policy framework: 

(a) those required by the Local Authorities (Functions and 
Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 and regulations proposed under 
section 32 of the Local Government Act 2000 to be adopted by the Council;   

(b) those other plans and strategies which Chapter 2 of Department for 
Communities Local Government Guidance recommends should be adopted by 
the Council as part of the Policy Framework; 

(c) other plans and strategies which the Council may decide should be 
adopted by the Council meeting as a matter of local choice. 

4.4 Budget 

Responsibility for the Budget includes the allocation of financial resources to different 
services and projects, proposed contingency funds, determining the Council tax base, 
setting the Council tax level, decisions relating to the control of the Council’s borrowing 

Page 43



requirements, investments, the control of its capital expenditure and the setting of 
expenditure limits and permitted budget transfers. 

4.5 Functions of the full Council 

Only the full Council will exercise the following functions: 

(a) Adopting and changing the Constitution; 

(b) Amending, approving, or adopting the Policy Framework, the Budget 

and any application to the Secretary of State in respect of any 
Housing Land Transfer; 

(c) Subject to the urgency procedure contained in the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution, making 
decisions about any matter where the Cabinet is proposing to make a 
decision which would be contrary to the Policy Framework or contrary 
to/or not wholly in accordance with the Budget; 

(d) Annual election of the Chairman and the Vice Chairman of the Council 
at the Annual General Meeting 

(e) Electing the Leader following the ordinary election of Councillors every 
four years.  Removing the Leader; 

(f) Annual election of the Chairman of the Scrutiny Committee at the 
Annual General Meeting 

(g) Determining which Committees, Sub-Committees, Boards, Panels etc. 
shall be established as standing committees, the terms of reference of 
each body, the number of members (voting and non-voting) that each 
consists of and making the necessary appointments to the bodies; 

(h) Appointing representatives to joint authorities, joint committees and 
other outside bodies unless the appointment is a Cabinet function or 
has been delegated by the Council; 

(i)  Adopting a scheme for members’ allowances under article 2.6; 

(j)  Changing the name of the Council’s area; 

(k) Conferring the title of honorary alderman or Freeman of the District; 

(l) Confirming the appointment of the Head of Paid Service; Chief 
Finance Officer and designating the Monitoring Officer and the taking 
of any disciplinary action against the these Officers and the 
designating of “Proper Officers“; 

(m) The approval or adoption of applications to the Secretary of State for 
approval of a programme of disposal of 500 or more properties or 
where consent is required for disposal of land used for residential 
purposes; 

(n) The approval of an increase in rents for Council housing properties; 

Page 44



(o) Making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting byelaws and 
promoting or opposing the making of local legislation or personal Bills; 

(p) Adopting a Code of Conduct for Members (Councillors); 

(q) Taking decisions in respect of functions which are not the 
responsibility of the Leader and which have not been delegated by the 
Council to Committees, Sub-Committees or officers; 

(r) The making of Procedure Rules (except the Cabinet Procedure Rules) 
including in relation to Contracts and Finance; 

(s) The delegation of non-executive functions to Committees, Sub-
Committees and officers, subject to the right to amend the Delegation 
Scheme from time to time as may be required; 

(t) All other matters which, by law, must be reserved to the decision of 
the Council as a whole; 

(u) Provide a means whereby councillors may ask questions of matters 
relevant to the Council’s functions and to bring forward motions for 
debate; 

(v) Receive an Annual Report from the chairmen of the Scrutiny 
Committee, Policy Development Groups and the Audit Committee  
and provide an opportunity for members to ask questions on the 
report; 

(w) Receive reports from the Leader, the Cabinet, the Scrutiny Committee 
and the Audit Committee which they have referred to Council; 

(x) Consider and decide on recommendations of Committees on non-
Cabinet functions not within their delegation or which a committee has 
referred to the Council for decision; 

(y) Consider reports on lawfulness and maladministration; 

(z) Consider decisions referred from the Scrutiny Committee in respect of 
Cabinet functions where decisions have not yet been implemented 
and the Committee considers the decisions may be contrary to the 
Budget or Policy Framework; 

(aa) Receive reports from the Leader or Cabinet on urgent decisions 
contrary to the Policy Framework; 

(bb) Take all decisions in respect of delegating non-executive functions to 
another local authority; 

(cc) Set the Council Tax base and the Council Tax; 

(dd) Any function under a local Act other than a function specified or 
referred to in Regulation 2 or Schedule 1 of The Local Authorities 
Functions and Responsibilities (England) Regulations, 2000 as 
amended; 

Page 45



(ee) Applications to the Secretary of State under Section 10 of the 
Representation of the People Act 2000 for an Order to proceed with 
pilot election arrangements. 

4.6 Council Meetings 

There are three types of Council meeting: 

(a) the annual meeting; 

(b) ordinary meetings; 

(c) extraordinary meetings. 

and they will be conducted in accordance with the Council Procedure Rules in Part 4 of 
this Constitution. 

4.7 Responsibility for Functions 

The Council will keep under review the tables in Part 3 of this Constitution setting out the 
responsibilities for the Council’s functions which are not the responsibility of the Cabinet. 

Page 46



 

5. Article 5 – Chairing The Council 

The Chair and Vice-Chair of the Council will be elected by the Council annually.  The Chair and 
in his absence the Vice-Chair, will have the following responsibilities, to:- 

5.1 Uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution, and to interpret the 
Constitution when necessary; 

5.2 Preside over meetings of the Council so that its business can been carried 
out efficiently and with regard to the rights of councillors and the interests of 
the community; 

5.3 Ensure that the Council meeting is a forum for the debate of matters of 
concern to the local community and the place at which members who are not 
on the Cabinet are able to hold the Cabinet to account; 

5.4  Promote public involvement in the Council’s activities; 

5.5  Be the conscience of the Council; 

5.6 Attend or be represented at such civic and ceremonial functions as the 
Council and he/she determines appropriate; 

5.7 Determine any matter referred to him/her under the urgency provisions of the 
Access to Information Procedure Rules or the Budget and Policy Framework 
Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution; and 

5.8 Be consulted on any matter to which consultation with the Chair of the 
Council is required under this Constitution. 

Page 47



 

6. ARTICLE 6 – Scrutiny Committee, Policy Development Groups (PDGs), Audit 
Committee and Standards Committee 

6.1 Introduction 

(a) The Council is required by Law to discharge certain overview and 
scrutiny functions.  These functions are an essential component of 
local democracy.  Overview and Scrutiny Committees should be 
powerful committees that can contribute to the development of Council 
policies and also hold the Cabinet to account for its 
decisions.  Another key part of the overview and scrutiny role is to 
review existing policies, consider proposals for new policies and 
suggest new policies.  

(b) Overview and scrutiny should be carried out in a constructive way and 
should aim to contribute to the delivery of efficient and effective 
services that meet the needs and aspirations of local 
inhabitants.  Overview and Scrutiny Committees should not shy away 
from the need to challenge and question decisions and make 
constructive criticism. 

(c) Mid Devon District Council has three Policy Development Groups 
which act as the overview function, developing and reviewing policy. 

(d) Mid Devon District Council also has a Scrutiny Committee which 
scrutinises internal and external matters as well as holding the 
Cabinet to account.  

6.2 Scrutiny Committee: General role 

6.2.1 The Scrutiny Committee will:- 

(a) Review and/or scrutinise decisions made or actions taken in 
connection with the discharge of any of the Council’s functions 
whether by the Cabinet or another part of the Council or any of its 
Committees; 

(b) Make reports and/or recommendations to the Council and/or the 
Cabinet in connection with the discharge of any functions; 

(c) Consider any matter which affects the Council’s area or its citizens;  

(d) Make reports and/or recommendations to the Full Council on any 
matters of broad local concern or importance not otherwise specified 
within the remit of the Policy Development Groups; and 

(e) Exercise the right to call in for reconsideration decisions made but not 
yet implemented by the Cabinet or key decisions made but not yet 
implemented by Officers. 

6.2.2 The Council or the Leader of the Cabinet or Scrutiny Committee may from time to 
time establish such other committees or sub-committees as it sees fit. 

Page 48



6.3 Scrutiny Committee: Specific Functions 

6.3.1 The Scrutiny Committee may:- 

(a) Review and scrutinise the decisions made by and performance of the 
Cabinet and/or Committees and Council Officers in relation to individual 
decisions and over time; 

(b) Review and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to its 
policy objectives, performance targets and/or particular service areas; 

(c) Question members of the Cabinet and/or Committees and Chief 
Officers from the Council about their decisions and performance, whether 
generally in comparison with service plans and targets over a period of time, 
or in relation to particular decisions, initiatives or project; 

(d) Make recommendations to the Cabinet and/or appropriate Committee 
and/or Council arising from the outcome of the scrutiny process; 

(e) Review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the 
area and invite reports from them by requesting them to address the 
Scrutiny Committee and local people about their activities and 
performance; and 

(f) Question and gather evidence from any person with a relevant 
knowledge, expertise or responsibility (with their consent). 

6.3.2 Officers 

Scrutiny Committee will have continuity of administrative support and be able to call on other 
relevant officer support and external expertise where necessary.  

6.3.3 Annual Report 

The Scrutiny Committee must report annually to the full Council on their workings with 
recommendations for its future work programme and amended working methods if appropriate.  

6.4 Committee and Membership 

The Scrutiny Committee will comprise of 10 Councillors, plus any additional members as the 
Council may see fit to appoint.  Cabinet Members may not be members of the Scrutiny Committee. 

6.5 Proceedings of Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

The Scrutiny Committee will conduct their proceedings in accordance with the Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

6.6 Policy Development Groups:  General role: 

Within their terms of reference Policy Development Groups may: 

(a) Make reports and/or recommendations to the full Council and/or the Cabinet 
and/or any other bodies of the Council in connection with the discharge of any 
functions; 

(b) Make reports and/or recommendations to the full Council on any matters of 
broad local concern or importance within their remit; and 

Page 49



(c) Undertake the functions below within the thematic areas set out in the table 
below.  These thematic areas will of necessity be broadly defined.  Any 
potential confusion or duplication between the thematic areas of these bodies 
which may result in duplication of effort or omission will be resolved by the 
Programming Panel.  The Programming Panel will also have discretion in 
ensuring that there is a reasonable division of issues for consideration 
between each of the Policy Development Groups.  

 

Group Thematic area 

Managing the Environment 

 

Waste and Recycling, Street Scene Services, 
Climate Change, Open Spaces 

 

Decent and Affordable Homes 

 

Provision of Affordable Housing, Tenant 
Satisfaction, Social Housing/Decent Homes 
Standard 

 

Community Well Being 

 

Community Leadership, Community    
Consultation/Development/Participation, 
Community Planning, Economic Development 
Town Centre Improvements, Food, Health and 
Safety and Pollution Control 

 

6.7 Policy Development Groups:  specific functions: 

Policy Development Groups may: 

(a) Assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development of its budget and 
policy framework by in-depth analysis of current provision, performance and 
policy issues; 

(b) Instigate and conduct research, community and other consultation in the 
analysis of policy issues, possible options and the development of policy; 

(c) Regularly involve members of the Cabinet and occasionally members of other 
bodies of the Council and officers to question them to find out their views on 
issues, proposals and policy affecting the area;  

(d) Consider reports from any individual councillor on matters relevant to the 
terms of reference of the group to enable the views of constituents and other 
organisations to be taken into account; and 

(e) Liaise with other external organisations operating in the area, whether 
national, regional or local, to ensure that the interests of local people are 
enhanced by collaborative working. 

(f) Consider the impact of policies to assess if they have made a difference 

 

6.8 Annual report   

The Chairmen of the Policy Development Groups must report annually to full Council on their 
workings and make recommendations to amended working methods if appropriate. 

 

Page 50



6.9 Committee and Membership 

The Policy Development Groups will each comprise of 7 Councillors, plus any additional members 
as the Council may see fit to appoint.  Cabinet Members may not be members of a Policy 
Development Group. 

6.10 Proceedings of Policy Development Groups 

Policy Development Groups will conduct their proceedings in accordance with the Procedure Rules 
set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 

6.11 Audit Committee:  General Role 

Within their terms of reference, the Audit Committee may: 

(a) Provide independent assurance of the adequacy of the risk management 
framework and the associated control environment; 

(b) Provide independent scrutiny of the authority’s financial and non-financial 
performance to the extent that it affects the authority’s exposure to risk and 
weakens the control environment; 

(c) Oversee the financial reporting process; 

(d) Approve the Statement of Accounts, Annual Governance Statement and the 
Council’s Final Accounts 

(e) Make reports and/or recommendations to full Council and/or Cabinet and/or 
any other bodies of the Council in connection with the discharge of its 
functions; 

(f) Make reports and/or recommendations to full Council on any matters of broad 
local concern or importance within their remit. 

6.12 Audit Committee:  Specific Functions 

The Audit Committee may:- 

(a) Audit Activity:- 

(i) Consider and approve the strategic audit approach and the annual 
audit programme; 

(ii) Consider the annual internal audit report including an overall opinion 
on the adequacy of the Council’s control environment, the extent to 
which the audit plan has been achieved, and a summary of any 
unresolved issues; 

(iii) Consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested; 

(iv) In the event of the audit service being contracted out, consider reports 
dealing with the management and performance of the providers of 
internal audit services; 

(v) Consider reports from internal audit on agreed recommendations not 
implemented within reasonable timescales; 

(vi) Consider the external auditor’s annual letter, relevant reports and the 
report to those charged with governance; 

(vii) Consider specific reports as agreed with the external auditor; 

(viii) Comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to 
ensure it gives value for money; 

Page 51



(ix) Liaise with the Audit Commission over the appointment of the 
Council’s external auditor should that become necessary; 

(x) Commission work from internal and external audit. 

 (b) Internal Controls 

(i) Maintain an overview of this Constitution including the Financial and 
Contract Procedure Rules; 

(ii) Review any issues referred to by the Chief Executive or any Council 
body; 

(iii) Monitor the Council’s confidential reporting policies in relation to anti 
fraud and anti corruption, whistle blowing and Anti Money Laundering, 
including monitoring the use of the Whistle Blowing policy and the 
Council’s Complaint process; 

(iv) Annually approve the Council’s Risk Management Strategy and review 
the effectiveness of the Council’s Risk Management process on a 
regular basis and gain assurance that appropriate action is being 
taken to ensure that corporate risks are being managed, including a 
report to the Council annually; 

(v) Oversee the production of the Council’s Annual Governance 
Statement and to ensure that relevant and suitable evidence has been 
obtained to support the disclosures within the Statement; 

(vi) Review and approve the Council’s Annual Governance Statement and 
monitor the progress against the Annual Statement action plan on a 
regular basis; 

(vii) Annually review and update the Council’s Code of Corporate 
Governance to ensure compliance with best practice and legislative 
guidance; 

(viii) Consider the Council’s compliance with its own and other published 
standards and controls. 

 (c) To review and formally approve the Annual Statement of Accounts 

(i) Consider whether appropriate accounting policies have been followed 
and whether there are concerns arising from the financial statements 
or from audit regarding the robustness of the accounts that need to be 
brought to the attention of the Council; 

(ii) Consider the external auditor’s reports to those charged with 
governance on issues arising from the audit of the accounts. 

6.13 Annual report   

The Chairman of the Audit Committee must report annually to full Council on their workings and 
make recommendations to amended working methods if appropriate. 

6.14 Committee and Membership 

The Audit Committee will comprise of 7 Councillors, plus any additional members as the Council 
may see fit to appoint.  Cabinet Members may not be members of the Scrutiny Committee. 

6.15 Proceedings of the Audit Committee 

The Audit Committees will conduct their proceedings in accordance with the Procedure Rules set 
out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

Page 52



6.16 Standards Committee: General role 

The Council shall establish a Standards Committee to carry out its functions relating to ethical 
matters under the Localism Act 2011.  

 

6.17 Standards Committee: Specific Functions 

The Standards Committee will have the following roles and functions: 

(i) Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors 
and co-opted Members; 

(ii) Assisting the Councillors and co-opted members to observe the 
Member’s Code of Conduct; 

(iii) Advising the Council on the adoption or revision of the Members’ 
Code of Conduct; 

(iv) Monitoring the operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct; 

(v) Advising, training or arranging to train Councillors and co-opted 
Members on matters relating to the Members’ Code of Conduct; 

(vi) Granting some dispensations to Councillors and co-opted Members 
from requirements relating to interests set out in the Members’ Code 
of Conduct; 

(vii) Dealing with any reports from a case and any other report from the 
Monitoring Officer on any matter; 

(viii) Exercising of (i) to (vii) above in relation to the town and parish 
councils wholly or mainly in its area and the members of those town 
and parish councils; 

(ix) Overview of complaints handling and Ombudsman investigations; and 

(x) Overview of the Constitution 

(xi) Consider any recommendations put forward by the Standards Sub-
Committee in respect of any hearings 

  

6.18 Standards Committee: Composition 

(i) The Standards Committee shall be composed of nine District Councillors  

(ii) The Standards Sub-Committee shall be composed of three of the District 
Councillors on the Standards Committee 

 

6.19 Standards Sub Committee: Specific Functions 

The Standards Sub-Committee will have the following roles and functions 

(i) To conduct hearings into allegations of the Code of Conduct following 
referral from the Monitoring Officer 

(ii) To make any recommendations back to the Standards Committee, 
such actions to include: 

 
(a) Publication of the findings of the Standards (Hearing) Sub-

Committee in respect of the Subject Member’s conduct 

Page 53



(b) Reporting the findings of the Standards (Hearing) Sub-
committee to Council for information 
 

(c) Recommendation to Council that the Subject Member 
should be censured 
 

(d) Recommendation to the Subject Member’s Group Leader 
(or in the case of ungrouped members to Council) that the 
Subject Member should be removed from any or all 
Committees or Sub-Committees of the Council for a 
recommended period 
 

(e) Recommend to Leader that the Subject Member should be 
removed from the Cabinet, or removed from their Portfolio 
responsibilities 
 

(f) Instructing the Monitoring Officer to arrange training for the 
Subject Member 
 

(g) Recommendation to Council that the Subject Member 
should be removed from all appointments to which the 
Subject Member has been appointed or nominated by the 
Council 
 

(h) Withdrawal of facilities provided to the Subject Member by 
the Council, such as a computer, website and/or e-mail and 
Internet access 
 

(i) Placing such restrictions on the Subject Member’s access 
to council staff, buildings or parts of buildings as may be 
reasonable in the circumstances 

The caveat to the sanctions above is subject to circumstances where the Councillor has acted 
outside of their role as a Councillor – in this case the Head of Paid Service may determine a course 
of action if appropriate. 

 

Page 54



 

 

7. ARTICLE 7 – THE CABINET 

7.1 Introduction 

The Cabinet is appointed to carry out all of the Council’s functions which are not the 
responsibility of any other part of the Council, whether by law or under this 
Constitution.  Many decisions will be made by the Cabinet, rather than the full Council.  

7.2 Form and Composition of the Cabinet 

The Executive (which is also known as the Cabinet) will consist of:- 

(a) The Leader of the Council (the “Leader”); and 

(b) The Deputy Leader of the Council together with at least three but not 
more than eight Councillors appointed to the Cabinet by the Leader. 

7.3 Leader 

(a) Election 

The Leader of the Council will be a Councillor elected to the position of Leader 
by the Council for a period of four years at the Annual Meeting immediately 
following the local government elections.   

(b) Term of Office 

(a) The Leader of the Council will hold office until:- 

(i) he/she resigns from the office; or 

(ii) he/she is disqualified from being a Councillor; or 

(iii) where the Council passes a resolution removing him/her from 
office. 

(b) In the event of any casual vacancy in the position of Leader the 
Deputy Leader shall act in the Leader’s place until the appointment of 
a new Leader by the Council. 

(c) Role of the Leader 

The Leader will carry out all of the Council’s executive functions, whether by law 
or under this Constitution, which are not the responsibility of any other part of 
the Council. 

7.4 Deputy Leader 

(a) Appointment 

The Leader may designate one of the members of the Cabinet as Deputy 
Leader.  

Page 55



(b) Duties of the Deputy Leader 

The Deputy Leader may exercise all the functions of the Leader where the 
position is vacant or where the Leader is absent or is otherwise unable to act.  

(c) Removal from Office 

The Leader may, if he/she thinks fit, remove the Deputy Leader from office at 
any time. 

7.5 Other Cabinet Members 

Other Cabinet Members will be Councillors elected to the position of Cabinet Member by 
the Leader.  Each Cabinet Member shall hold office until:- 

(a) He/she resigns from that office; or 

(b)  They are no longer councillors; or 

(c) He/she is disqualified from being a Councillor 

(d) He/she is removed from that office by the Leader upon such notice (if 
any) as the Leader considers appropriate; or 

(e) He/she ceases to be a Councillor. 

The Leader may at any time appoint a Cabinet Member to fill any vacancies.  

7.6 Proceedings of the Cabinet 

The proceedings of the Cabinet shall take place in accordance with the Cabinet 
Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution.  

7.7 Delegation of Functions 

The Leader may exercise executive functions himself/herself or may otherwise make 
arrangements to delegate responsibility for their discharge as set out below:- 

The Leader may delegate executive functions to:- 

(a) The Cabinet as a whole; 

(b) A Committee of the Cabinet (comprising executive members only); 

(c) An individual Cabinet Member; 

(d) A joint committee; 

(e) Another local authority or the executive of another local authority; 

(f) A delegated Officer. 

Page 56



 

8. ARTICLE 8 – REGULATORY AND OTHER COMMITTEES 

8.1 Introduction 

The Council will appoint committees to undertake a variety of regulatory and other 
functions that are the responsibility of the Council but which do not have to be carried out 
by the full Council.  

8.2 Standing Committees 

The Standing Committees are listed below and full details of their functions can be found 
in [insert cross reference].  

 

8.3 Other Committees and Sub-Committees 

(a) The Council will appoint such other committees as it considers 
appropriate to exercise any of its functions.  

(b) Any committee appointed by the Council may at any time appoint 
additional sub-committees and panels throughout the year.  Their 
terms of reference and delegation of powers to them shall be explicit 
and within the Appointing Committee’s terms of reference.  

(c) The Council in the case of Standing Committees or the parent 
committee in the case of sub-committees or panels will, in the case of 
sub-committees or panels, appoint the members to serve on the 
committee, sub-committee or panel subject to the right of a political 
group within the meaning of the Local Government and Housing Act 
1989 and any regulations made under that Act to make nominations 
for those appointments at the meeting that makes the appointments 
before the appointments are made. 

Page 57



 

9. ARTICLE 9 – JOINT ARRANGEMENTS 

9.1 Introduction 

There are a number of circumstances where the Council or the Cabinet is entitled to 
carry out certain functions jointly with another local authority. 

9.2 Joint Arrangements 

(a) The Council may establish joint arrangements with one or more local 
authorities and/or their executives to exercise functions which are not 
executive functions in any of the participating authorities, or advise the 
Council.  Such arrangements may involve the appointment of a joint 
committee with these other local authorities.  

(b) The Cabinet may establish joint arrangements with one or more local 
authorities to exercise functions which are executive functions.  Such 
arrangements may involve the appointment of joint committees with 
these other local authorities.  Except as set out below, or as permitted 
or required by Law, the Cabinet may only appoint Cabinet Members to 
such joint committees and those Members need not reflect the political 
composition of the Council as a whole. 

(c) The Cabinet may appoint members to a Joint Committee from outside 
the Cabinet where the Joint Committee has functions for only part of 
the area of the Council and that area is smaller than two fifths of that 
local authority, by area or population.  In such cases, the Cabinet may 
appoint to the Joint Committee any Councillor who is member for a 
ward contained within the area.  Political balance requirements do not 
apply to such appointments.  

9.3 Access to Information 

(a) The Access to Information Procedure Rules apply.  

(b) If all the Members of a Joint Committee are Members of the Cabinet in 
each of the participating authorities, then its access to information 
regime is the same as that applied to the Cabinet.  

(c) If the Joint Committee contains members who are not on the Cabinet 
of any participating authority, then the Access to Information Rules in 
part VA of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) will apply.  

9.4 Delegation to and from Other Local Authorities 

(a) The Council can delegate non-executive functions to another local 
authority or, where those functions are the responsibility of the 
executive of another local authority, to that executive.  

(b) The Cabinet can delegate executive functions to another local 
authority or the Executive of another local authority in certain 
circumstances.  

Page 58



(c) The decision whether or not to accept such a delegation from another 
local authority is reserved to the full Council.  

9.5 Contracting Out 

The Council (in respect of non-executive functions) and the Cabinet (in respect of 
executive functions) may contract out to another body or organisation functions:- 

(a) Which may be exercised by an Officer and which are subject to an 
order under Section 70 of the Deregulation and Contracting Out Act 
1994; or 

(b) Under contracting arrangements where the Contractor acts as the 
Council’s Agent under usual contracting principles, provided there is 
no delegation of the Council’s discretionary decision making. 

Page 59



  

10. ARTICLE 10 - OFFICERS 

10.1 Management Structure 

(a) General 

The Council may engage such staff (referred to as officers) as it considers 
necessary to carry out its functions. 

(b) Chief Officers 

The Council will engage persons for the following posts, who will be designated 
Chief Officers. The Head of Paid Service shall have responsibility and power to 
amend the functions and areas of responsibility of the Chief Officers as he/she 
considers necessary to deliver the Council’s functions, vision and priorities. 
Such changes will be carried out in accordance with any relevant Human 
Resources policies. 

Post Functions and Areas of Responsibility 

 

Post 

 

Duties 

 

Chief Executive 

 

 Overall corporate management and 
operational responsibility (including 
overall management and responsibility 
for all officers) 

 Principal advisor to the Council on 
general policy 

 Overall responsibility for delivering 
the Council’s policies and programmes 

 Provision of professional advice to 
all parties in the decision-making 
process 

 To act as Head of Paid Service. 

 

(c) Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer 

The Council will designate the following posts as shown: 

Designation Post 

Head of Paid Service Chief Executive 

Page 60



Monitoring Officer Head of Communities and Governance 
 

Chief Finance Officer Head of Finance 
 

 

Such posts will have the functions described in 10.2 to 10.4 below. 

(d) Structure 

The Head of Paid Service will determine and publicise a description of the 
overall departmental structure of the Council showing the management 
structure and deployment of officers.  

10.2 Functions of the Head of Paid Service 

(a) Discharge of Functions by the Council 

The Head of Paid Service will keep under review the manner in which the 
discharge of the Council’s functions is co-ordinated, the number and grade of 
officers required for the discharge of functions and the organisation of officers. 

(b) Restrictions on Functions 

The Head of Paid Service may not be the Monitoring Officer but may hold the 
post of Chief Financial Officer if a qualified accountant. 

10.3 Functions of the Monitoring Officer 

(a) Maintaining the Constitution 

The Monitoring Officer will maintain an up-to-date version of the Constitution 
and will ensure that it is widely available for consultation by Members, staff and 
the public. 

(b) Ensuring Lawfulness and Fairness of Decision Making 

After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and Chief Finance Officer, the 
Monitoring Officer will report to the full Council or to the Cabinet in relation to a 
Cabinet function, if he or /she considers that any proposal, decision or omission 
would give rise to unlawfulness or if any decision or omission has given rise to 
maladministration. Such a report will have the effect of stopping the proposal or 
decision being implemented until the report has been considered. 

(c) Supporting the Standards Committee 

The Monitoring Officer will contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high 
standards of conduct through provision of support to the Standards Committee. 

Notwithstanding the duty of confidentiality, the Monitoring Officer shall be at 
liberty to disclose any information relating to the Council’s affairs, and provide 
copies of any records or documents belonging to the Council to the Standards 

Page 61



Committee, for the purposes of investigation or determination of a complaint 
against a Member. 

(d) Conducting Investigations 

The Monitoring Officer will conduct investigations into matters and carry out any 
other actions as directed by the Standards Committee and make reports or 
recommendations in respect of them to the Standards Committee. 

(e) Proper Officer for Access to Information 

The Monitoring Officer will ensure that Cabinet decisions, together with the 
reasons for those decisions and relevant Officer reports and background papers 
are made publicly available as soon as possible. 

(f) Advising Whether Cabinet Decisions are within the Budget and Policy 
Framework 

The Monitoring Officer will advise whether decisions of the Cabinet are in 
accordance with the budget and policy framework. 

(g) Providing Advice 

The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers and authority 
to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and budget 
and policy framework issues to all Councillors. Where the Monitoring Officer 
considers that a Member(s) has acted contrary to his/her advice it is open to 
him/her to issue a report to the Council under s.5 Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989, or seek judicial review, as he or she considers appropriate in 
the circumstances. 

(h) Restrictions on Posts 

The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief Finance Officer. 

10.4 Functions of the Chief Finance Officer 

(a) Ensuring Lawfulness and Financial Prudence of Decision Making 

If the Chief Financial Officer considers that any proposal, decision or course of 
action will involve incurring unlawful expenditure, or is unlawful and is likely to 
cause a loss or deficiency or if the Council is about to enter an item of account 
unlawfully.  After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring 
Officer, the Chief Finance Officer will report to the full Council or to the Cabinet 
in relation to a Cabinet function and the Council’s external auditor. When the 
report is completed the Chief Finance Officer shall send a copy to: (a) the 
current auditor of the Council’s accounts; and, (b) each Member of the Council. 

(b) Administration of Financial Affairs 

The Chief Finance Officer will have responsibility for the administration of the 
financial affairs of the Council. 

(c) Contributing to Corporate Management 

Page 62



The Chief Finance Officer will contribute to the corporate management of the 
Council, in particular through the provision of professional financial advice. 

(d) Providing Advice 

The Chief Finance Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers and 
authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and 
budget and policy framework issues to all Councillors and will support and 
advise Councillors and officers in their respective roles. 

(e) Give Financial Information 

The Chief Finance Officer will provide financial information to the media, 
members of the public and the community. 

10.5 Duty to Provide Sufficient Resources to the Monitoring Officer and Chief 
Finance Officer 

The Council will provide the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer with such 
officers, accommodation and other resources as are in their opinion sufficient to allow 
their duties to be performed. 

10.6 Conduct 

Officers will comply with the Officers’ Code of Conduct and the Protocol on 
Officer/Member Relations set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

10.7 Employment 

The recruitment, selection and dismissal of officers will comply with the Officer 
Employment Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 

Page 63



 

11. ARTICLE 11 - DECISION MAKING 

11.1 Responsibility for Decision Making 

The Council will issue and keep up to date a record of what part of the Council or which 
individual has responsibility for particular types of decisions or decisions relating to 
particular areas or functions. This record is set out in Part 3 of this Constitution. 

11.2 Principles of Decision Making 

All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles: 

(a) Proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired 
outcome); 

(b) Due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers; 

(c) Respect for human rights; 

(d) A presumption in favour of openness; 

(e) Clarity of aims and desired outcomes; 

(f)  Consideration of any alternative options; and, 

(g) The giving of reasons for the decision and the proper recording of 
those reasons. 

11.3 Type of Decision 

(a) Decisions reserved to full Council. Decisions relating to the functions 
listed in Article 4 will be made by the full Council and will not be delegated. 

(b) Key decisions – a “key decision” means a Cabinet decision which is likely: 

(i) To involve expenditure or savings in excess of £50,000.00 as well as 
otherwise being significant having regard to the Council’s budget for 
the service or function to which the decision relates; or 

(ii) To be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or 
working in an area comprising two or more wards in the district. 

In accordance with section 38 of the Local Government Act 2000, in determining 
the meaning of “significant” regard shall be had to any guidance for the time 
being issued by the Secretary of State. 

(iii) A decision taker may only make a key decision in accordance with the 
requirements of the Access to Information Procedure Rules and the 
Cabinet Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

11.4 Decision Making by the Full Council 

Subject to Article 11.8, the Council meeting will follow the Council Procedures Rules 
2012 set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter. 

Page 64



11.5 Decision Making by the Cabinet 

Subject to Article 11.8, the Council meeting will follow the Cabinet Procedures Rules set 
out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter. 

11.6 Decision Making by the Scrutiny Committees 

The Scrutiny committees will follow the Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution when considering any matter. 

11.7 Decision Making by Other Committees and Sub-Committees Established 
by the Council 

Subject to Article 11.8, other Council committees and sub-committees will follow those 
parts of the Council Procedures Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution as apply to 
them. 

11.8 Decision Making by Council Bodies Acting as Tribunals 

The Council, a councillor or an officer acting as a tribunal or in a quasi judicial manner or 
determining/considering (other than for the purposes of giving advice) the civil rights and 
obligations or the criminal responsibility of any person will follow a proper procedure 
which accords with the requirements of natural justice and the right to a fair trial 
contained in Article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights. 

Page 65



 

12. ARTICLE 12 - FINANCE, CONTRACTS AND LEGAL MATTERS 

12.1 Financial Management 

The management of the Council’s financial affairs will be conducted in accordance with 
the financial rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

12.2 Contracts 

Every contract made by the Council will comply with the Contract Procedure Rules set 
out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

12.3 Legal Proceedings 

The Legal Services Manager is authorised to institute, defend, participate in or settle any 
legal proceedings and take all necessary steps in any case where such action is 
necessary to give effect to decisions of the Council or in any case where the Legal 
Services Manager considers that such action is necessary to protect the Council’s 
interests. 

The Legal Services Manager has delegated powers to authorise officers to appear in 
court on the Council’s behalf. 

12.4 Authentication of Documents 

Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or proceedings on behalf of 
the Council, it will be signed by the Legal Services Manager or other person authorised 
by him/her, unless any enactment or otherwise authorises or requires, or the Council has 
given requisite authority to some other person. 

Any contract with a value exceeding £50,000.00, entered into on behalf of the Council 
shall be made in writing. Subject to the Contracts Procedure Rules, such contracts must 
be signed by at least two officers of the Council or made under common seal of the 
Council attested by at least one officer if they exceed £50,000.00 in value. 

In addition to any other person who may be authorised by resolution of the Council, the 
proper officer for the purposes of authentication of documents under the Local 
Government Acts shall be: 

(a) The Chief Executive; 

(b) The Legal Services Manager; 

(c) Any Chief Officer of the Council concerned with the matter to which 
the document relates; or, 

(d) Any officer authorised in writing by such Chief Officer or by the Legal 
Services Manager. 

12.5 Common Seal of the Council 

(a) Common Seal 

Page 66



The Common Seal of the Council shall be kept in a safe place in the custody of 
the Legal Services Manager. 

A decision of the Council, or any part of it, will be sufficient authority for sealing 
any document necessary to give effect to the decision. 

(b) Sealing and Execution of Documents 

The common seal of the Council shall be affixed to a document only on the 
authority of:- 

(i) A resolution of the Council; 

(ii) A resolution of a Committee or Sub-Committee which the Council has 
empowered to authorise the use of the seal; 

(iii) A decision by the Council, or by a Committee, Sub-Committee or 
officer exercising delegated functions, to do anything where a 
document under the common seal is necessary or desirable as part of 
the action. 

The affixing of the common seal shall be attested by the Monitoring Officer, the 
Legal Services Manager or another solicitor authorised by the Legal Services 
Manager. 

(c) Record of Sealing of Documents 

Any entry of the sealing of every deed or document to which the Common Seal 
has been affixed shall be made by the Legal Services Manager and 
consecutively numbered in a book to be provided for the purpose. 

(d) Disposal of Land and Real Property 

Every disposal of land and real property made by the Council will comply with 
the Financial and Contract Procedure Rules set out in Part [ ?   ] of the 

Constitution. 

Page 67



 

13. ARTICLE 13 - REVIEW AND REVISION OF THE CONSTITUTION 

13.1 Duty to Monitor and Review the Constitution 

The Monitoring Officer will monitor and review the operation of the Constitution to ensure 
that the aims and principles of the Constitution are given full effect. The Chief Finance 
Officer shall be responsible for keeping under review the Financial Procedure Rules set 
out in Part 4 of the Constitution and shall make any necessary amendments and 
revisions as are required from time to time. He/she shall report any amendments made 
to Part 4 for the next available Council meeting for noting. 

13.2 Protocol for Monitoring and Review of Constitution by Monitoring 
Officer 

A key role for the Monitoring Officer is to make recommendations for ways in which the 
Constitution could be amended in order to better achieve the purposes set out in Article 
1. In undertaking this task, the Monitoring Officer may: 

(a) Observe meetings of different parts of the Member and officer 
structure; 

(b) Undertake an audit trail of a sample of decisions; 

(c) Record and analyse issues raised with him/her by Members, officers, 
the public and other relevant stakeholders; and, 

(d) Compare practices in this Council with those in comparable authorities, 
or national examples of best practice. 

13.3 Changes to the Constitution 

(a) Approval 

Subject to 13.3 (b), changes to the Constitution will only be approved by the full 
Council following discussion by the Standards Committee. Where the table of 
Chief Officers in Article 10 or the Management Structure section of the 
Constitution needs to be updated, the Monitoring Officer may make the 
necessary changes upon receipt of notification from the Chief Executive that 
he/she has made changes to these structures following Council or relevant 
committee approval of such changes. 

(b) Minor Changes 

If, in the reasonable opinion of the Monitoring Officer, a change is: 

(a) A minor variation; or 

(b) Required to be made to remove any inconsistency or ambiguity; or 

(c) Required to be made so as to put into effect any decision of the 
Council or its committees or the Cabinet, 

Page 68



in which case the Monitoring Officer may make such a change. Any such 
change made by the Monitoring Officer shall come into force with immediate 
effect and he/she will notify all Councillors of the minor amendments. 

(c) Change to a Mayoral Form of Executive 

The Council must take reasonable steps to consult with local electors and other 
interested persons in the area when drawing up proposals and must hold a 
binding referendum. 

(d) Legislative Change 

Any part of the Constitution may be amended by the Monitoring Officer where 
such amendment is required to be made so as to comply with any legislative 
provision. Such amendments shall take effect when the Monitoring Officer so 
decides or the legislation (where relevant) so provides. Such changes shall be 
notified to all Councillors. 

Page 69



 

14. ARTICLE 14 - SUSPENSION, INTERPRETATION AND PUBLICATION OF THE 
CONSTITUTION 

14.1 Suspension of the Constitution 

(a) Limit to Suspension 

The Articles of this Constitution may not be suspended. The Council Procedure 
Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution may be suspended by the full Council to the 
extent permitted within those Rules and the law. 

(b) Procedure to Suspend 

A motion to suspend any Rules will not be moved without notice unless at least 
one half of the whole number of councillors is present. The extent and duration 
of suspension will be proportionate to the result to be achieved, taking account 
of the purposes of the Constitution set out in Article 1. 

14.2 Interpretation 

The ruling of the Chairman of the Council (or other person presiding) as to the 
construction or application of this Constitution or as to any proceedings of the Council 
shall not be challenged at any meeting of the Council. Such interpretation will have 
regard to the purposes of this Constitution contained in Article 1. 

14.3 Publication 

(a) The Monitoring Officer will give a printed copy of this Constitution to 
each member of the Council upon delivery to him of that individual’s 
declaration of acceptance of office on the member first being elected 
to the Council. 

(b) The Monitoring Officer will ensure that copies are available for 
inspection at Council offices, libraries and other appropriate locations 
and on the Council’s website, and can be purchased by members of 
the local press and the public on payment of a reasonable fee. 

(c) The Monitoring Officer will ensure that the summary of the 
Constitution is made widely available within the area and is updated 
as necessary. 

Page 70


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Constitution Working Group
	Draft revised MDDC Constitution Articles


